CASE NO: SC 05-214

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MARK ANDREW TOBIN, *Appellant* vs. MICHIGAN MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY, *Appellee*,

CRAIG MACKAY, individually and as Personal Representative of the ESTATES OF ANA GUTIERREZ MACKAY and JONANTHAN PATRICK MACKAY, *Appellant* vs. MICHIGAN MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY, *Appellee*,

HELEN J. HUNTER, Appellant vs. MICHIGAN MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY, Appellee

On Certification from the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit

Consolidated Case No: 03-12737-JJ

INITIAL BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF APPELLANTS

INTRODUCTION

This appeal centers on Appellants' attempts to obtain uninsured/underinsured motorist, or UM/UIM coverage, under liability policies issued by MICHIGAN MUTUAL, covering vehicles leased by Ford Motor Credit Corporation, ("FMCC"), and its subsidiary, Jaguar Motor Credit Corporation, ("JMCC"). The Eleventh Circuit's certification to this Court, presents the following issues for consideration:

- (1) Whether MICHIGAN MUTUAL, in issuing a motor vehicle liability policy insuring the aforementioned vehicles, was obligated to comply with the Florida Uninsured Motorist Statute §627.727 Fla. Stat;
- (2) Whether HELEN HUNTER, ("HUNTER"), MARK TOBIN, ("TOBIN"), and ANA GUTIRREZ MACKAY and JONATHAN PATRICK MACKAY, (referred to individually by name or collectively as "MACKAY"), as occupants of such leased vehicles, are entitled to UM/UIM coverage under the MICHIGAN MUTUAL policies for any injuries sustained as a result of the negligence of an uninsured/underinsured motorist; and accordingly,
- (3) Whether the district court erred in reforming the MICHIGAN MUTUAL policies to exclude UM/UIM coverage for occupants of the aforementioned vehicles.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature Of The Case¹

The present consolidated actions arise out of three separate automobile accidents. Specifically, on March 24, 1996, TOBIN was driving a vehicle leased from JMCC when he was involved in a collision with an uninsured motorist in Miami - Dade County, Florida. On February 18, 1997, HUNTER was driving a 1997 Ford Explorer leased from FMCC, when she was involved in a collision with an uninsured motorist in Palm Beach County, Florida. Finally, on October 4, 1997, ANA GUTIERREZ MACKAY and JONATHAN PATRICK MACKAY, were fatally injured in a vehicle leased from FMCC, when it collided with an uninsured motorist in Miami-Dade County, Florida. (RE - 1).

TOBIN, HUNTER and MACKAY seek UM/UIM motorist coverage under motor vehicle liability policies issued to FMCC and JMCC covering their fleet of leased vehicles registered or principally garaged in Florida.² The Appellants claim

^{&#}x27;Since the three appeals were consolidated by the Eleventh Circuit, there are three Records. Accordingly, references to the Records in the respective cases - Tobin, Hunter or Mackay, will be by the symbol "R" followed by the first letter of the respective party, i.e., R(T), R(H), or R(M). When the referenced material is included in the Record Excerpts, which were filed in the Eleventh Circuit, the designation "RE" is used. Finally, references to the Appendix to this brief will be by the symbol App. ____, and all emphasis is supplied by counsel unless otherwise indicated.

²Hunter and Mackay seek coverage under the same fleet policy, while Tobin seeks coverage under an earlier version of the policy. For purposes of this appeal the two policies are identical and relevant portions of the policy our attached hereto as

that as a result of MICHIGAN MUTUAL'S failure to comply with requirements of the Florida Uninsured Motorist Statute, §627.727, the MICHIGAN MUTUAL policies must be deemed to provide UM/UIM coverage for their benefit as occupants of FMCC and JMCC leased vehicles.

B. <u>Course Of Proceedings</u>

Three separate actions seeking declarations of entitlement to UM/UIM coverage were filed by the Appellants. On May 27, 1999, TOBIN filed an action in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida; on April 20, 1999, HUNTER filed an action in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida; and on October 3, 2002, MACKAY also filed such an action. (RE-1). The MACKAY action was originally filed in Miami - Dade County Circuit Court but on November 27, 2002, the action was removed to the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida. (R (M) 1-1).

On September 9, 1999, MICHIGAN MUTUAL moved for summary judgment in the HUNTER action, contending that UM/UIM coverage was not available. (R (H) 1 - 13). On December 10, 1999, HUNTER followed with a crossmotion for summary judgment on coverage. (R (H) 1 -27, 29).

App. 1. While App. 1 appears to indicate that there is a single Personal Auto Policy Supplement, including an endorsment, App. 1, pg. 4, covering retail lease vehicels, the gravamen of MICHIGAN MUTUAL's argument is that the latter endorsement is, in effect, a separate policy, not governed by the remaining provisions of the Personal Auto Policy Supplement.

On January 4, 2000, the TOBIN action was transferred to the calendar of the Honorable Adalberto Jordan who was presiding over the HUNTER action, and on July 26, 2000, the court stayed proceedings in the TOBIN action pending a resolution of the summary judgment motions filed in the HUNTER action. (R (T) 1 - 20, 25).

On September 24, 2002, the district court granted HUNTER's motion for summary judgment finding that the MICHIGAN MUTUAL policy, by its express terms, provided UM/UIM coverage for the benefit of HUNTER. At the same time, the court also denied, in part, MICHIGAN MUTUAL's claim that the policy should be reformed to exclude such coverage, indicating that the issue of whether such a reformation should take place presented factual questions. (R (H) 3 - 68).

On December 3, 2002, the MACKAY action was also transferred to Judge Jordan's division, and on January 16, 2003, the court entered a scheduling order consolidating the TOBIN, HUNTER, and MACKAY actions for trial of the reformation issue. (R (M) 1 -10; R (H) 3 – 83; R (T) 1 - 37). In the same Scheduling Order, the court indicated that while the MACKAY action was only recently filed, it was indistinguishable from TOBIN and HUNTER "as far as legal issues are concerned." Thus, the court indicated that its prior order in HUNTER should apply to both TOBIN and MACKAY. (R (M) 1- 10 - 2; R (H) 3 - 83 - 2; R (T) 1 - 37 - 2).

On April 22, 2003, the parties presented evidence and arguments at a bench trial on the issue of reformation. On May 7, 2003, the district court issued its Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law ruling in favor of MICHIGAN MUTUAL, reforming the MICHIGAN MUTUAL policies to exclude UM/UIM coverage, and rejecting the Plaintiffs' arguments, that as a result of MICHIGAN MUTUAL's violation of §627.727 Fla. Stat., the policies must be deemed to provide UM/UIM coverage. (App. 2; RE - 55).

TOBIN, HUNTER, and MACKAY then appealed the district court's judgment of no coverage to the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals. The Eleventh Circuit entertained oral argument in the consolidated cases on November 18, 2004, and on February 3, 2005, the Eleventh Circuit issued its opinion certifying this cause to this Court. (App. 3).

C. Statement Of Facts

As indicated above, TOBIN, HUNTER, and MACKAY have sued MICHIGAN MUTUAL, claiming entitlement to UM/UIM coverage, under two policies issued to FMCC and JMCC. On September 24, 2002, the district court granted summary judgment in favor of HUNTER on the issue of coverage, concluding that it was bound to follow the Florida Third District Court of Appeal decision in *Perez v. Michigan Mutual Ins. Co.*, 723 So.2d 849 (Fla. 3rd DCA

1999).³ The court additionally concluded, however, that there was an issue of fact as to whether reformation of the policy was proper because it did not conform to the intent of the contracting parties, Ford and MICHIGAN MUTUAL. (R (H) 1 - 27).

Following the entry of summary judgment in favor of HUNTER, both MICHIGAN MUTUAL and HUNTER filed motions for reconsideration. In its motion, MICHIGAN MUTUAL contended that the lower court was not bound to follow the Third District's decision in *Perez* since there were indications that were this Court to address the question at issue in *Perez*, it would have ruled differently. (R (H) 3-71).

In her motion for reconsideration, HUNTER contended that she was entitled to summary judgment on the issue of reformation since Florida law, which the Parties agreed was applicable, (App. 3, pg. 15), requires an insured to prove that the insured waived UM/UIM coverage following an affirmative offer of said coverage. HUNTER further asserted that even if the endorsement covering the retail lease vehicles was considered to be a separate policy, since no such offer

³In the *Perez* action, the Third District concluded that a MICHIGAN MUTUAL policy, identical to those in question here, provided UM/UIM coverage, by its express terms, for the benefit of FMCC and JMCC lessees, as named insureds. Both TOBIN and HUNTER were lessees while the MACKAYS were simply occupants of such a leased vehicle. Because it was faced with the *Perez* decision, MICHIGAN MUTUAL sought reformation in the present action.

occurred prior to the issuance of that policy by MICHIGAN MUTUAL, any attempted reformation of the policy based on mutual mistake, so as to exclude such coverage, would violate Florida law. (R (H) 3 - 74).

HUNTER's contention that MICHIGAN MUTUAL had violated Florida law in issuing its policies, was based on admissions from Daniel Sobczynski, the Ford representative who negotiated the purchase of the MICHIGAN MUTUAL policy. In his deposition, Sobczynski testified that prior to the issuance of the MICHIGAN MUTUAL policy there was no rejection of UM/UIM coverage for the Florida retail lease vehicles. (R (H) 1 - 30 - 11, 12).

On November 21, 2002, the district court entered an order denying both MICHIGAN MUTUAL's and HUNTER's motions for reconsideration. In rejecting HUNTER's motion, the court indicated that if at trial, Ford and MICHIGAN MUTUAL could prove that they did not intend to provide coverage to retail lessees then HUNTER would not be a named insured under the MICHIGAN MUTUAL policy, and Florida law requiring UM/UIM coverage would not apply. (R (H) 3 - 80).

Following the court's denial of the motions for reconsideration, the TOBIN, HUNTER and MACKAY actions were consolidated for a bench trial on the reformation issue. In its order consolidating the cases for trial, the court once again rejected HUNTER's position that since it was undisputed that MICHIGAN

MUTUAL had not adhered to §627.727 Fla. Stat., there was no triable issue presented on the question of reformation. On this point, the court's order stated simply:

First, I once again reject plaintiff's argument that the reformation defense must fail if the plaintiffs can demonstrate that Michigan Mutual failed to offer UM/UIM coverage without an informed rejection. That issue was resolved in the order on motion for summary judgment [D.E. 68] and again in the order on reconsideration [D.E. 80].

(R (H) 3 - 83 - 2).

On April 22, 2003, the district court conducted a bench trial on the issue of reformation. During trial, the court permitted Plaintiffs' counsel to question Martin Taft, MICHIGAN MUTUAL's representative, as to whether MICHIGAN MUTUAL offered UM/UIM coverage to Ford for its retail lease vehicles, also known as "Red Carpet" vehicles, registered or principally garaged in Florida:

Mr. Hunter (Plaintiffs' counsel):Did your company [Michigan Mutual] offer uninsured motorist coverage to Ford?

Ms. Thompson (Defense counsel): Objection, your Honor, irrelevant. You have ruled on this issue.

The Court: I'am sorry: Ms. Thompson: Your Honor.

The Court: Hold on. It is not -

Ms. Thompson: I'am sorry. Thank you very much. It is amazing

Your Honor had ruled on the issue of whether or not the offer or failure to offer UM insurance was at issue in this case. You said it is not. So, consequently, we object based on relevancy.

The Court: No, if I remember correctly, that ruling is on whether or not Ford offered that to lessees. Right? Is that what I ruled on?

Ms. Thompson: Well, actually, Ford is not the party. It would be whether Michigan Mutual offered it to lessees.

The Court: Alright. To lessees. But that was not the question that was asked. Ms. Thompson? Ok.

The Court: The question was did your company offer uninsured motorist coverage to Ford?

Mr. Hunter (Plaintiffs' counsel): Yes, sir.

Ms. Thompson. Ok. Thank you, counsel. Thank you judge.

The Court: I think that is a relevant question. You can answer.

Mr. Taft. . . Those that would be covered under contingent liability - you

understand that retail lessees, that liability (sic) is afforded on behalf of liability that Ford may have as a result of negligence of retail lessees, correct?

Answer: That is correct.

Question: That is the contingent

liability?

Answer: That is correct.

Question: Alright. In connection with that coverage, you made no offer of uninsured motorist in connection with that?

Answer: That is correct

(R (H) 3 - 102 - 104 - 06).

Following this inquiry, the court then questioned the witness:

The Court: Mr. Taft, who has the obligation to offer uninsured motorist coverage?

The witness: It varies by state, your Honor. For example, in the State of Ohio, there is no requirement to offer it.

The Court: OK. Florida?

The witness: I believe in Florida there has to be an offer.

The Court: My whom?

The witness: On the part of the insurance company...

Question: Mr. Hunter (Plaintiffs' counsel): Well, following up on that, any liability policy issued on an automobile in many states requires a contemporaneous offer of uninsured motorist coverage, correct?

Answer: In many states, yes. . .

Question: In connection with this policy, it was never offered to Ford?

Answer: Uninsured motorist was offered to Ford.

Question: I thought we had already establish that early on with respect to the Red Carpet leasing program it was not?

Answer: That is correct.

(R (H) 3 - 102 - 118 - 20).

Following the bench trial, the court requested that the Parties submit proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law. In their submission, Plaintiffs contended, based on the undisputed documentary evidence and oral testimony, that irrespective of whether or not the contracting parties had agreed not to provide coverage to retail lessees as named insureds, since there was a clear failure on the part of MICHIGAN MUTUAL to offer UM/UIM coverage equal to the liability limits of the MICHIGAN MUTUAL policy covering retail lease vehicles, any

attempts to reform the policies to exclude such UM/UIM coverage, or any conclusion that no such UM/UIM coverage was afforded, would constitute a violation of Florida law. (R (H) 3 - 106).

On May 7, 2003, the district court issued its Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law. (App. 2). The court held that MICHIGAN MUTUAL satisfied its burden on the reformation issue by introducing clear and convincing evidence that it and Ford did not intend to provide coverage for the benefit of the Plaintiffs as named insureds. In rejecting the Plaintiffs' contention that MICHIGAN MUTUAL's admitted failure to comply with Florida law mandates a finding of UM/UIM coverage, the court indicated:

Fifth, the Plaintiffs point out that there documents in evidence discussing the offer or rejection of uninsured motorist coverage for retail lessees. Because many states, including Florida, require uninsured motorist coverage to be explicitly rejected, the plaintiffs argued that Ford intended to provide such coverage to retail lessees. The fact that there are no rejection documents, however, is insignificant. The parties never intended to provide coverage to retail lessees at all. Accordingly, there was no need for them to obtain rejections of uninsured motorist coverage for the retail lessees. In other words, the absence of rejections is consistent with the intent of Ford Michigan and Mutual. Additionally, although the plaintiff presented evidence that uninsured motorist coverage is required in several states, there is no indication that the lessor is always legally obligated to provide or offer such coverage. (Footnote omitted).

Sixth. the plaintiffs, in their supplemental proposed findings of facts and conclusions of law, argue that the policy could not be reformed because Michigan Mutual did not obtain a signed rejection of uninsured motorist coverage from them. As discussed in previous orders, this argument does not carry the day. In relevant part, Fla. Stat. §627.727(1) provides that: "[n]o motor vehicle liability insurance policy which provides injury bodily liability coverage shall be delivered or issued. . unless uninsured motor vehicle coverage is provided therein.".. Once the policy is reformed, however, there no "motor vehicle liability is policy which provides insurance" bodily injury liability coverage" to retail lessees. The statute, therefore, is not triggered. As explained by the Florida Supreme Court, §627.727(1) uninsured requires that coverage be offered in two instances: (1) when a motor vehicle liability insurance policy is issued; and; (2) when a motor vehicle is leased for a period of one year or longer and the lessor of the vehicle, by the terms of the lease contract provides liability coverage on the leased vehicle. Diversified Services, Inc. v. Avila, 606

So.2d 364, 365 (Fla. 1992). Neither of these situations is applicable here. Once the contract has been reformed, no motor vehicle liability policy was issued with respect to lessees, and the terms of the lease agreement between Ford (or Jaguar) and the plaintiffs do not provide liability coverage. Accordingly, 627.727 is inapplicable here, and the lack of rejection by the plaintiffs of coverage is factually and legally insignificant.

(App. 2, pgs 9-10); (R. E. - 55 - 9 - 10).

The ultimate effect of the district court's ruling was that the definition of named insured under the Personal Auto Policy Supplement – "Any person to whom an automobile has been. . . leased" (App. 1, pg. 1), did not include retail lessees. In so finding, the court concluded that the language "leased" within the definition, referred to only those vehicles leased to Ford employees (App. 2, pgs 4-5). It was these vehicles, the court held, which were described by the designation "L" under the covered auto provisions of the policy. (App. 1, pg. 2). Accordingly, the court reasoned that only those "leased" vehicles were entitled to the UM/UIM coverage otherwise provided under the policy. (See Appendix 1, pg. 1, indicating UM/UIM limits of 100,000/300,000 and App. 1, pg. 9, the UM/UIM endorsement).⁴

-

⁴ As a result of the district court's ruling, and as Michigan Mutual argued, Endorsement PP FORD – 01, providing coverage to Red Carpet vehicles, (App. 1,

Following entry of judgments in favor of MICHIGAN MUTUAL and against TOBIN, HUNTER, and MACKAY, the three judgments were appealed. (R. E. - 56). On July 2, 2003, the district court consolidated the appeals under the TOBIN case, number - 03-12737-JJ.

In its February 3, 2005 opinion, the Eleventh Circuit certified the following question to this Court:

Does the Defendant, Michigan Mutual have any liability to the Plaintiffs under the policy in question, and, if so, what is the extent of that liability?

The court then indicated that in answering the aforementioned question this Court may deem the following issues relevant:

- (A) Whether Plaintiffs, Hunter, Tobin and Mackay, who leased vehicles from Ford under a retail lease program, are insured for and are entitled to UM/UIM coverage under the Auto Supplement to Defendant Michigan Mutual's policy for any injuries sustained as drivers or occupants as a result of the negligence of an uninsured/underinsured motorist?
- (B) If Plaintiffs are insured for and are entitled to any such UM/UIM coverage under the Auto Supplement, is that coverage primary coverage, excess coverage or both;

pg. 4), is a stand alone endorsement unaffected by the remaining provisions - such as the UM/UIM provision - of the Personal Auto Policy Supplement.

21

- (C) If Plaintiffs are insured for or entitled to any such UM/UIM coverage under the Auto Supplement, whether the Auto Supplement of Defendant, Michigan Mutual's policy may be reformed to reflect the contracting parties' (Ford and Michigan Mutual) undisputed intentions not to purchase or provide such UM/UIM coverage in the Auto Supplement?
- (D) Whether the Defendant, Michigan Mutual in issuing primary coverage under the Auto Supplement of the policy is subject to and obligated to comply with the requirements in Fla. Stat. §627.727, and if so, whether as to primary coverage that statute applies only to Ford or the Plaintiff or both? Further, if applicable, did Defendant Michigan Mutual comply with Fla. Stat. §627.727, and, if not, what is the result of failure to comply with such statutory requirements?
- (E) Whether Defendant, Michigan Mutual in issuing the excess coverage under the Auto Supplement of the policy was subject to and obligated to comply with the requirements in Fla. Stat. § 627.727, and if so, whether as to excess coverage that statute applies only to Ford or to the Plaintiffs or to both? Further, if applicable did Michigan Mutual comply with Fla. Stat. §627.727, and, if not, what is the result of failure to comply with such statutory requirements.

In concluding its opinion the Eleventh Circuit then indicated:

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