CASE NO. SC 05-214

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MARK ANDREW TOBIN, *Plaintiff/Petitioner*, v.

MICHIGAN MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY, Defendant/Respondent.

CRAIG MACKAY, individually and as Personal Representative of the ESTATES OF ANA GUTIERREZ MACKAY and JONATHAN PATRICK MACKAY, *Plaintiff/Petitioner*,

v.

MICHIGAN MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY, Defendant/Respondent.

HELEN J. HUNTER, Plaintiff/Petitioner,

V.

MICHIGAN MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY, Defendant/Respondent.

On Certification from the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit

Consolidated Case No.: 03-12737-JJ

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT MICHIGAN MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY

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

This case arises out of three separate automobile accidents involving

² Further relevant factual and procedural history of this case was set forth by the Eleventh Circuit in its decision certifying questions to this Court. *See generally Tobin v. Michigan Mutual Ins. Co.*, 398 F.3d 1267 (11th Cir. 2005).

vehicles leased from Ford or its subsidiaries under typical consumer retail lease programs. Tobin, while driving a Jaguar that he leased from Jaguar Motor Credit Corporation ("Jaguar Credit"), allegedly was involved in an accident with an uninsured motorist on March 24, 1996.³ (R4 – 108 – 2). Hunter allegedly was involved in an accident with an uninsured motorist on February 18, 1997 while driving a 1997 Ford Explorer that she leased from Ford Motor Credit Corporation ("Ford Credit"). (*Id.*) Ana Gutierrez Mackay and Jonathan Mackay – whose estate Mackay represents – allegedly were fatally injured in an accident with an uninsured motorist on October 4, 1997 while traveling in a vehicle leased from Ford Credit.⁴ (*Id.*)

Plaintiffs thereafter filed suit against Michigan Mutual seeking UM coverage under a policy issued by Michigan Mutual to Ford. (Id.) That policy was intended by Michigan Mutual and Ford to provide coverage to Ford and certain of its management employees who leased vehicles from Ford under a special company lease program. (R4 - 105 - 2-16). Plaintiffs argued, however, that under their reading of the policy's definition of "named insured," the policy also provided coverage to retail lessees of Ford vehicles and the occupants of those vehicles.

_

³ Jaguar Credit is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ford Credit.

⁴ Because the trial only addressed the issue of reformation of the policy, there is no evidence on the record as to whether the plaintiffs' accidents in fact involved unor under-insured motorists or as to whether plaintiffs' own insurance would have covered their claims.

(R1-1). Although all three cases were filed separately, they were all ultimately consolidated before the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida. (R4-108-2).

Ford did not – and does not – provide insurance for its retail lessees. (R4 – 102 – 53-56). To the contrary, Ford's standard lease agreements applicable to the Plaintiffs' vehicles specifically required the retail lessee to obtain his or her own insurance. (R4 - 105 - 54-57). The Ford Credit lease agreement for the Hunter and Mackay vehicles stated that 'LESSOR IS NOT PROVIDING VEHICLE INSURANCE OR LIABILITY INSURANCE" and required that the lessee "must insure the vehicle during this lease," including obtaining liability insurance covering the lessee. (R4 - 105 - 55 (emphasis in original)). Similarly, the Jaguar Credit lease agreement for Tobin's vehicle stated that "[t]he Lessee must insure the vehicle for the term of the lease." (R4 - 105 - 58). In addition, both agreements required the lessees not only to obtain liability insurance for themselves, but also to obtain coverage for Ford to protect it against any liability that it might incur as the vehicle lessor/owner. (R4 - 105 - 55, 58).

The insurance policy under which Plaintiffs sought coverage in this case, Policy No. CCP 0052141⁵ (the "Policy"), did not provide coverage for retail

_

⁵ The Policy was issued to Ford for three-year periods, but typically was renewed at the end of the second year. The versions of the Policy period relevant to this case were issued on December 15, 1994 and December 15, 1996. The district

lessees. (R4 – 105 – 2-16). Rather, it provided insurance coverage for Ford and certain of its management employees and retired employees who leased Fordowned vehicles for their personal use as part of Ford's internal vehicle evaluation program. The vehicle evaluation program is a special Ford program, distinct from the ordinary consumer retail lease program, and is available only to certain current and former Ford management employees who are required to provide periodic evaluations of their leased vehicles. (R4 – 102 – 41-46). The lease agreement for participants in that program specifically states that Ford was also providing the lessees with insurance for the vehicles. (R4 – 105 – 39). Accordingly, under its plain terms, the Policy provides both primary liability and UM coverage for Ford and the Ford employees who lease vehicles under – and participate in – the vehicle evaluation program, with respect to those vehicles.

Retail leased vehicles, however, are not part of Ford's internal vehicle evaluation program; and unlike the leased evaluation vehicles, retail leased vehicles are not included in Ford's vehicle administration system. (R4 - 102 - 44-45). Thus, there is no provision in the section of the Policy providing UM coverage that addresses or otherwise references retail lessees or occupants of retail leased vehicles. (R4 - 105 - 10-11). Rather, the Policy makes clear that UM coverage is only provided for an "insureds" – which does not include retail lessees – with

court's decision was based on language and negotiating history that was the same for both versions of the Policy. (R4 - 108 - 2-3).

respect to a "covered auto" – which does not include retail leased vehicles. (Id.)

Despite the fact that Plaintiffs were not lessees under Ford's internal vehicle evaluation program and despite the plain language of their own lease agreements, Plaintiffs sought UM coverage under the Policy. Relying on an interpretation of the Policy that had been previously adopted by the Third District Court of Appeal in *Perez v. Michigan Mutual Insurance Company*, 723 So. 2d 849 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999), Plaintiffs asserted that they came within the definition of "Named Insured" in Item 1 of the Personal Auto Supplement to the Policy, which provided coverage for "anyone to whom a vehicle was assigned, leased or loaned." (R1 – 1).

Michigan Mutual filed a motion for summary judgment on September 9, 1999, in which it argued that Plaintiffs' proposed interpretation of the Policy ignored Item 2 of the Policy, which defines the "covered autos" which would be "assigned, leased or loaned" to the "named insureds" and which does not included retail leased vehicles. (R1 – 13). Since retail leased vehicles are not included within the definition of "covered autos," Plaintiffs' vehicles were not "covered autos" under the Policy, and Plaintiffs, as lessees of those vehicles were not "named insureds." (*Id.*) Michigan Mutual further noted the absurdity that would result under Plaintiffs' proposed interpretation of the Policy – *i.e.*, that every person leased, assigned, or loaned a vehicle in the United States would be covered by the Policy. (*Id.*)

Michigan Mutual, however, recognizing that the *Perez* court had previously interpreted the Policy as covering retail lessees by its express terms, therefore asserted a second argument. It contended that, even if the court felt bound to adopt the *Perez* court's interpretation, the Policy should be reformed to reflect the actual intent of the only two parties to the Policy, Michigan Mutual and Ford, not to provide coverage to retail lessees. (R1 - 13).

Plaintiff Hunter responded and cross-moved for summary judgment on the coverage issue and for class certification on December 10, 1999. (R1 - 27, 29, 30). On September 24, 2002, the District Court ruled on the summary judgment motions.⁶ Although the District Court agreed that the *Perez* court had improperly interpreted the Policy, it determined that as a federal court, it was bound by the state court's interpretation. (R3 – 68). However, in order to resolve Michigan Mutual's request that the Policy be reformed, the district court held a bench trial to determine Michigan Mutual's and Ford's intent with respect to the scope of coverage of the Policy. (R4 - 102). At that trial, Michigan Mutual presented live testimony from Martin Taft, Michigan Mutual's Assistant Vice-President, and Daniel Sobczynski, Ford's Director of Corporate Insurance, the two people responsible for negotiating the Policy, as well as affidavit evidence, that demonstrated that neither party to the Policy ever intended for the Policy to

 $^{^{6}}$ The District Court also denied Hunter's motion for class certification at that time. (R3 – 70).

provide UM coverage – or indeed, any coverage whatsoever – to retail lessees. (R4 - 102 - 54-55, 100, 110).

On May 7, 2003, the District Court entered its findings of fact and conclusions of law, concluding that Michigan Mutual had demonstrated by clear and convincing evidence that the plain language of the Policy – as interpreted in *Perez* and reluctantly followed by the District Court – did not reflect the mutual intent of Ford and Michigan Mutual. (R4 – 108 – 6-7). Accordingly, the court reformed the contract to exclude UM coverage for retail lessees. The court also rejected the Plaintiffs' contention that the Florida Uninsured Motorist Statute nonetheless required Michigan Mutual to provide retail lessees with UM coverage – and thereby barred reformation of the Policy – on the basis that the Policy, once reformed to match the intent of the parties, did not implicate or otherwise trigger the Florida Uninsured Motorist Statute as to Plaintiffs. (R4 – 108 – 9-10).

On appeal to the Eleventh Circuit, Plaintiffs abandoned their primary theory of the case – that the express terms of the Policy require Michigan Mutual to provide retail lessees with coverage as named insureds – and did not challenge the District Court's factual finding that Ford and Michigan Mutual intended to exclude such retail lessees from coverage. Instead, as their initial brief in this Court makes plain, their appeal focused solely on their secondary, wholly legal argument – that the Florida Uninsured Motorist Statute, section 627.727, Florida Statutes,

precluded the District Court from reforming the Policy so as to exclude retail lessees from UM coverage, regardless of the District Court's factual findings.

Plaintiffs' argument was based on Endorsement PP FO RD 01 to the Policy, which provides contingent loss and excess auto liability coverage to Ford in those cases where Ford, as the lessor/owner of a retail leased vehicle, may be liable for injuries caused by its retail leased vehicles.⁷ (R4 – 105 – 3). But, as Michigan Mutual argued, that liability is contingent on the primary insurance the lessee is required to obtain under the lease being insufficient to cover any such liability. Further, the endorsement expressly limits its coverage to the "Named Insured" – a category which plainly does not include retail lessees. In fact, the endorsement explicitly states that "[n]o coverage is provided to lessees, agents, or permissive users." (*Id.*)

The Eleventh Circuit heard oral argument on November 18, 2004. On February 3, 2005, the Eleventh Circuit certified the following question to this Court:

Does the Defendant, Michigan Mutual, have any liability to the Plaintiffs under the Policy in question, and, if so, what is the extent of that liability?

In addition, the Eleventh Circuit also listed five sub-questions that it

9

⁷ Plaintiffs concede that Endorsement PP FO RD 01 is the only provision in the Policy that is at issue in this proceeding, *i.e.*, Plaintiffs no longer claim an entitlement to coverage under any other section of the Policy. (*See* Initial Brief and Appendix of Appellants ("Pls. Br.") at 21 n.4).

suggested this Court might deem "relevant" in answering the certified question. However, because Plaintiffs have abandoned their original argument that they are "named insureds" under the Policy and have chosen not to challenge the District Court's factual findings, sub-questions (A), (B), and (C) no longer have any relevance to this proceeding. Sub-questions (D) and (E), which deal with whether the portion of the Policy relevant to this proceeding constitutes primary or non-primary coverage and whether the Michigan Mutual and Ford complied with the requirements of section 627.727 are addressed below.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Although superficially complicated, this is, in many respects, a very simple case. Michigan Mutual issued Ford a policy designed to provide coverage for certain vehicles in a Ford vehicle evaluation program, open to only certain Ford management employees and retirees. That policy was not intended to provide coverage for retail lessees of Ford vehicles and, in fact, the only portion of that policy that dealt with retail leased vehicles explicitly excluded "lessees" and "permissive users" from the policy's coverage. Moreover, any individual who leased a Ford vehicle was told categorically that Ford was not providing him or her with insurance and was required – both under the lease contract and under Florida law – to acquire their own motor vehicle liability policy. Accordingly, as the District Court correctly recognized, Plaintiffs are simply not covered by the Policy, and therefore whether Michigan Mutual and Ford complied with the Florida Uninsured Motorist Statute is irrelevant as to them.

Plaintiffs, however, attempt to circumvent this outcome by arguing that, because they are lawful occupants of the leased vehicles, they are entitled to coverage under the Policy as Class II insureds despite the Policy's plain terms. But Plaintiffs' argument contorts the concept of Class II insureds beyond recognition. A Class II insured is traditionally an individual who is permitted by another person to occupy that person's motor vehicle. Although the Class II insured pays no

insurance premiums, he or she has a derivative claim under the Class I insured's policy because he or she is occupying the Class I insured's motor vehicle. In other words, the concept of Class II insurance is about extending a Class I insured's coverage to include those people (e.g., passengers, employees) that the Class I insured allows to use his or her vehicle.

This concept, however, is not consistent with the long-term lessor-lessee relationship. While the lessor is technically permitting the long-term lessee to occupy the leased vehicle, in truth the leased vehicle is essentially the lessee's vehicle. In short, when lessees are driving their leased vehicles, they are not being permitted to use others' vehicles – *they are driving their own cars*. Accordingly, permitting Plaintiffs to invoke Class II insured status to avoid the Policy's plain terms will serve none of the purposes behind Class II coverage. Instead, it will provide retail lessees with a windfall, allowing them to use their essentially permanent Class II status vis-à-vis the lessor to obtain Class I coverage without paying for it. Plaintiffs' end-run around the Policy's express terms – and their own lease agreements' express terms – therefore should not be countenanced.

But even if Plaintiffs are entitled to Class II insured status, they still have no valid claim to UM benefits against Michigan Mutual. As Plaintiffs concede, the portion of the Policy relevant to retail leased vehicles, and thus to this proceeding, is Endorsement PP FO RD 01, which provides only contingent loss and excess

auto liability coverage. As the Policy itself makes clear, this coverage is non-primary coverage – it does not attach upon the insured incurring liability, but rather comes into play only when the lessees' own primary liability policy fails or is exhausted. It is well established that exclusions of UM coverage from non-primary liability policies are governed by the requirements of section 627.727(2) and that those requirements are satisfied as long as the insured is aware of the availability of UM coverage. Because the Policy on its face demonstrates that Ford was aware that it could obtain UM coverage under the Policy if it so wished, the Florida Uninsured Motorist Statute poses no bar to Michigan Mutual's and Ford's decision not to provide UM coverage under endorsement under Endorsement PP FO RD 01.

Accordingly, the District Court was wholly correct in concluding that there was nothing in the Florida Uninsured Motorist Statute that entitled Plaintiffs to UM coverage under the Policy. The certified question should therefore be answered in the negative with this Court indicating that Michigan Mutual has no liability to Plaintiffs for UM benefits.

ARGUMENT

I. BECAUSE PLAINTIFFS ARE NOT COVERED UNDER THE POLICY, THE FLORIDA UNINSURED MOTORIST STATUTE HAS NO BEARING ON THIS CASE.

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